
WASHINGTON STATE 
GAMBLING COMMISSION PUBLIC 

MEETING - July 2018

The Hotel Murano
1320 Broadway

Tacoma, WA 98402



 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

GAMBLING COMMISSION 
“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest”  

P.O. Box 42400 Olympia, Washington 98504-2400  (360)486-3440  (800)345-2529  FAX (360) 486-3625 

Hotel Murano 
1320 Broadway Plaza, Tacoma, WA 98402 

July 12, 2018 
**REVISED AGENDA** 

Please note, agenda times are estimates only.  Items may be taken out of sequence at the discretion of the Chair. 
 

10:00 AM Executive Session  -  Closed to the Public 
Discuss Pending Investigations, Tribal Negotiations, and Litigation 
The public meeting will reconvene at approximately 12:00 pm 

PUBLIC MEETING 
ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURE ACT PROCEEDINGS 

12:05 PM 
 
 
 
 

Tab 1 
 

Call to Order 
Welcome and Introductions                                                                                   Bud Sizemore, Chair 

• Moment of Silence  
Consent Agenda                                                                                                                          (Action) 

• June 7, 2018 Commission Meeting  
• New Licenses and Class III Employees 

Class III Employees/Snoqualmie & Cowlitz Tribes                                                                (Action) 
 
Director’s Written Report                                                                                     

Tab 2 
 

Petition for Review of Summary Suspension Initial Order                                                    (Action) 
• Gregory Paul Means, CR 2017-01110 

                                                                                                   Greg Rosen, Assistant Attorney General 
                                                                                                 Bryan Hershman, Attorney for Petitioner 

Tab 3 
 

 

Defaults                                                                                                         Haylee Mills, Staff Attorney 
• Jordan S. Hjorth, CR 2018-00405, Class III Employee Certification Revocation          (Action) 
• Loren G. Maxey, CR 2018-00263, Public Card Room Employee Revocation               (Action) 

Tab 9 Petition for Declaratory Order – Big Fish Casino                                                                   (Action) 
Brian Considine, Legal and Legislative Manager 

Beth Brinkmann, Council for Petitioner 
PUBLIC MEETING 

Tab 4 
 

Cowlitz Indian Tribe Phase  II                                                                                                  (Action) 
                                                                                                        Keith Kam, Special Agent Supervisor 

Tab 5 
 

FY 2019 Budget Revisions                                                                                                         (Action) 
                                                                                                             Cam Dightman, Budget Specialist 

Tab 6 
 

Electronic Gaming Lab Presentation                                    
                                                                         Melissa Valencia, Electronic Gaming Lab Administrator 

Tab 7 
 

Tribal Compact Contribution Presentation 
                                                                                                  Dan Wegenast, Special Agent Supervisor 
                                                                                                       Kelly Main, Special Agent Supervisor                                                    

Tab 8 
 

Legislative Update/ Agency Request Legislation                
                                                                                     Brian Considine, Legal and Legislative Manager 

 Other Business/General Discussion/Public Comments 
4:00 Meeting Adjourn 

Upon advance request, the Commission will pursue reasonable accommodations to enable persons with disabilities to attend 
Commission meetings. Questions or comments pertaining to the agenda and requests for special accommodations should be 
directed to Julie Anderson, Executive Assistant at (360) 486-3453 or TDD (360) 486-3637. Questions or comments pertaining to 
rule changes should be directed to the Rules Coordinator (360) 486-3447. 



 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

GAMBLING COMMISSION 
“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest”  

1 
 

 
June Gambling Commission Meeting Minutes 

The Great Wolf Lodge 
20500 Old Highway 99, SW 

Grand Mound, WA 
Public Meeting  

June 7, 2018 
 

Commissioners Present:                                      
Bud Sizemore, Chair 
Julia Patterson, Vice Chair 
Chris Stearns 
Ed Troyer  
Alicia Levy 

Ex Officio Members Present:  
Senator Steve Conway 
 

Staff Present: 
David Trujillo, Director; Amy Hunter, Deputy Director; Tina Griffin, Assistant Director; Brian 
Considine, Legal and Legislative Manager; Julie Lies, Tribal Liaison; Heather Songer, Public 
Information Officer; Julie Anderson, Executive Assistant and Sharon James, Assistant Attorney 
General. 
 
Executive Session Call to Order 
Chair Bud Sizemore called the June Gambling Commission Meeting to order at 11:35 a.m. and 
immediately went into Executive Session to discuss Tribal Negotiations, Pending Investigations 
and Litigation.  Executive Session ended at 1:20 p.m.  
 
Public Session Call to Order 
Chair Bud Sizemore called the Gambling Commission meeting to order at 1:40 p.m. after 
Executive Session and a short break. Chair Sizemore welcomed everyone to the Great Wolf 
Lodge and thanked the individuals that attended the tribal consultation meeting that was held 
before Executive Session. He introduced the Commissioners and staff that were present. 
 
Chair Sizemore asked for a moment of silence to recognize law enforcement officers across the 
country that were lost in the line of duty since we last met. 
 
There were 35 people in attendance.  
 
Tab 1 
Consent Agenda: 
Commissioner Patterson moved to approve the consent agenda as presented by staff. 
Commissioner Stearns seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 5:0  
 
Commissioner Patterson moved to approve the Snoqualmie Tribe and Cowlitz Tribe of Indians 
Class III Gaming Employees Certifications as presented. 



2 
 

Commissioner Troyer seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 4:0 
Commissioner Stearns abstained.  
 
Election of Officers 
Chair Sizemore asked for nominations for Chair of the Gambling Commission. One nomination 
was made. 
 
Commissioner Troyer moved to nominate Bud Sizemore as Chair of the Gambling 
Commission for the term beginning immediately after the June 7, 2018 meeting for a term 
through May 2019.  
Commissioner Patterson seconded the motion.  
The motion passed.5:0 
 
Chair Sizemore asked for nominations for Vice Chair. One nomination was made.  
 
Chair Sizemore moved to nominate Commissioner Patterson as Vice Chair of the Gambling 
Commission for the term beginning immediately after the June 7, 2018 meeting for a term 
through May 2019. 
Commissioner Troyer seconded the motion.  
The motion passed. 5:0 
 
Director’s Report 
Director Trujillo provided a written report that was sent out to the Commissioners ahead of 
time. Chair Sizemore asked the Commissioners if they had any follow up questions for the 
Director. They did not.  
 
Commissioner Stearns Presentation 
Commissioner Stearns presented a PowerPoint presentation on three conference he attended in 
the last several weeks. Those conference were the National Indian Gaming Association (NIGA), 
Focus on the Future, and GiGse 2018 convention and Tradeshows.  
 
Commissioner Stearns attended the NIGA Convention and Tradeshow April 18-20, 2018 in Las 
Vegas, NV. NIGA is one of the largest conventions and tradeshows in the nation. NIGA is a non-
profit organization of 184 Indian Nations representing organizations, tribes and business engaged 
in the tribal gaming industry. He then attended the “Focus on the Future” Conference May 1-3, 
2018 in Vancouver, WA. The Focus on the Future conference is the largest and oldest 
conference on problem gambling awareness in the Pacific Northwest. This conference was 
coordinated by the Evergreen Council on Problem Gambling. Commissioner Patterson also 
attended the Focus on the Future conference. Commissioner Patterson mentioned that this 
conference was a great opportunity for everyone to learn and network on the topic of problem 
gaming, and also share the successes and challenges around problem gambling. Commissioner 
Stearns said that the 32nd National Conference on Problem Gambling will be held in Cleveland 
Ohio on July 20-2, 2018. The Four Directions Conference that is hosted by Evergreen Council 
on Problem Gambling will be held October 1- 4, 2018 at the Little Creek Casino.  In late May 



3 
 

Commissioner Stearns traveled to Florida May 29-June 1, 2018 to attend the Global iGaming 
Summit and Expo (GiGse). He attended a Sports Betting – State Legislator Panel as well as a 
Sports Betting Operators & US Markets Panel.  
 
Petition for Review of Summary Suspension Initial Order 
Chair Sizemore introduced Greg Rosen, Senior Council for the Washington State Attorney 
General’s office. AAG Rosen is representing the Gambling Commission staff in the case 
involving Gregory P. Means of Federal Way, license number 68-07011 and case number 
CR2017-01110. Gregory P. Means has requested a continuance. Commissioner Troyer is 
familiar with the attorney involved in the case before the Commission and recused himself from 
the deliberations. AAG Rosen is offering a technical objection to the continuance because 
counsel indicated, essentially implied, he didn't get sufficient notice. AAG Rosen explained in 
detail the lengths taken by Ms. Haylee Mills, Staff Attorney for the Gambling Commission, to 
contact the petitioner appropriate to the WAC.  The attorney for Gregory P. Means, Mr. 
Hershman indicated by the motion that he didn't receive Ms. Mills' email on May 31st.  
Commissioner Patterson asked if the Gambling Commission could verify whether or not the 
email was received or was just overlooked somehow. AAG Rosen explained that the 
Commission would have to take his word for it. He also explained that Mr. Hershman filed the 
petition on May 30th, relevant to the WAC provision, WAC 230-17-175, that the petition would 
have to be heard at the next regularly scheduled Commission meeting June 7, 2018. Staff does 
not object to the motion for any other reason that the Commission finds, other than the 
contention that Mr. Hershman did not receive notice until June 5th.   
 
With no further questions for AAG Rosen the four Commissioners deliberated in a separate 
room. The Commissioners reconvened after 10 minutes. Chair Sizemore asked for motion. 
 
Commissioner Levy moved to grant the continuance, based on the lack of availability of the 
counsel and reschedule the summary suspension hearing to the July 12th Commission 
Meeting. 
Commissioner Stearns seconded the motion.  
The motion passed. 4:0 
Commissioner Troyer abstained.  
 
Tab 3 
Defaults                                                                                  
Staff Attorney, Haylee Mills presented the default materials.  

1) Giovanni Gonzalez, 2017-01457, Class III Employee Certification Revocation.  
Chair Sizemore asked if Mr. Giovanni Gonzalez was in the audience. He was not.  

Commissioner Levy moved to revoke the Class III Certification for Giovanni Gonzalez. 
Commissioner Patterson seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 5:0 
 

2) Juan A. Vazquez Gonzalez, CR2017-01685, Class III Employee Certification 
Revocation. 



4 
 

Chair Sizemore asked if Mr. Juan A. Vazquez Gonzalez was in the audience. He was not.  

Commissioner Levy moved to revoke the Class III Certification for Juan A. Vazquez Gonzalez. 
Commissioner Stearns seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 5:0 
 

3) Wayne B. Miller, CR2018-0046, Public Card Room Employee License Revocation. 
Chair Sizemore asked if Mr. Wayne B. Miller was in the audience. He was not.  

Commissioner Stearns moved to revoke the Public Card Room License for Wayne B. Miller. 
Commissioner Levy seconded the Motion.  
The Motion passed. 5:0 
 
Tab 4 
Legislative/Sports Betting Update 
Legal and Legislative Manager Brian Considine presented the materials for this tab. Mr. 
Considine reported on the 2019 agency request legislation and gave a quick update on the Big 
Fish-Churchill Downs 9th Circuit Court of Appeals case. Churchill Downs Inc. was sued in 
Washington State Federal District Court and prevailed. The plaintiffs appealed the decision to 
the Ninth Circuit. This was a plaintiff's lawsuit alleging various different civil liability theories, 
but essentially asked the Federal District Court, and then Ninth Circuit that Big Fish’s online 
casino, sometimes termed as a social casino or free play casino, was actually gambling. The 
Ninth Circuit ruled a few weeks ago with a decision that said, "Yes, it is gambling." Mr. 
Considine explained to Commissioners how the process works.  
Churchill Downs has indicated that it will vigorously defend itself, even though it no longer 
owns Big Fish Casino. Mr. Considine believes Churchill Down sold Big Fish over the last two 
years. But because of this ruling, there have been at least five additional lawsuits that have been 
filed, in either Seattle Federal District Court or Tacoma Federal District Court, with the same 
theory against additional online operators. Game Show Network, is the most recent,Huge Games, 
and DoubleDown Interactive, which is owned by IGT and is one of our licensees.  

The U.S. Supreme Court issued a 6-3 decision in Murphy v. NCAA, on May 14, 2018. The 
Supreme Court found that the Professional and Amateur Sports Protection Act (PASPA) is 
unconstitutional because it violates the 10th Amendment. The 10th Amendment provides that, if 
the Constitution does not either give a power to the federal government or take that power away 
from the states, that power is reserved for the states or the people themselves. The Supreme 
Court has long interpreted this provision to bar the federal government from “commandeering” 
the states to enforce federal laws or policies. Consequently, the Supreme Court ruled that 
PASPA’s prohibition on states’ legalization of sports betting violates the anti-commandeering 
doctrine and PASPA is void. Congress can regulate sports gambling directly, and can pass a 
federal law prohibiting or regulating sports betting.  However, it cannot direct states to enforce 
the Federal Government’s decisions. This decision allows each state to regulate sports betting on 
its own. Currently, sports boards in RCW 9.46.0335, is the only sports betting authorized in the 
Gambling Act. Washington state constitution, Article 2, Section 24, requires that any new forms 
of sports gambling pass by a 60 percent vote of the Legislature or 60 percent vote of the people if 
submitted by referendum or initiative. 
Deputy Director Amy Hunter, Agent in Charge Jennifer LaMont, Public Information Officer 
Heather Songer, and Mr. Considine attended sports betting seminars at the UNLV’s International 



5 
 

Center for Gaming Regulation in March and April in anticipation of this decision. Mr. Considine 
also confirmed that staff at the Gambling Commission is preparing materials for the Legislature 
to assist them in their analysis in the many policy issues that will be considered as they 
determine how to proceed on sports betting legislation.  
 
Congress could intervene and act on sports betting. It is highly unlikely Congress would prohibit 
sports betting in the U.S.  
Professional sports leagues (NBA, NFL, NHL, MLB and the NCAA) anticipated this result and 
are promoting a federal framework that provides a uniform approach to sports gambling in states 
that choose to permit it. However, they were also actively lobbying state legislatures for certain 
league-friendly policies before PASPA was ruled unconstitutional.  
 
Commissioner Stearns asked a clarifying questions regarding scalability. He also mentioned 
that the Supreme Court did not strike down the Wire Act, and explained that it’s still illegal to 
send information across state lines. He also mentioned that if companies such as William Hill or 
Paddy Power, want to operate in Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Delaware, Rhode Island, they have 
to have a separate operation in every single state that they're in. They can't just have one national 
hub. Commissioner Patterson asked for an online tutorial that she could watch before the July 
Commission meeting to help her get the basics down on sports betting.  
Mr. Considine will provide that to her.  
Commissioner Stearns asked about the study for problem gambling and the resources for the 
study, but not a prevalence study. Mr. Considine explained that the problem gambling study 
will be an interagency agreement with University of Washington and the Washington State 
University. Commissioner Stearns said that in his opinion he thinks it would be better to ask for 
a prevalence study in 2019 rather than 2020. Mr. Considine said that he would be happy to push 
that forward if that was agency request legislation for 2019. 

Commissioners discussed possible topics for agency request legislation. The six topics identified 
for agency request legislation are: 
 

• Problem Gambling Self-exclusion Program (Comm. Stearns and Patterson); 
• Problem Gambling Task Force (Staff suggestion based on input from Comm. Stearns and 

Patterson); 
• Problem Gambling Prevalence Study (Comm. Stearns); 
• Skins/Loot Boxes (Comm. Stearns); 
• Involuntary Exclusion from Gambling Establishments for People who Commit Certain 

Crimes or Acts (staff request); and 
• General Fund appropriation for Gambling Commission’s criminal enforcement activities 

(Comm. Sizemore). 
Commissioner Stearns said perhaps the Washington State Lottery could fund the prevalence 
study. 
Other Business/General Discussion/Public Comment 
Commissioner Troyer commended the Gambling Commission staff and agents on the rooster 
fighting bust that was in the news recently. Agents seized over 300 roosters that had been given 
drugs and had weapons on their feet in a big fighting operation. Agents also seized $35,000, and 
booked some people in jail.  
 



6 
 

Chair Sizemore reminded the audience that the next Commission Meeting will be held at the 
Hotel Murano in Tacoma.  
 
Public Comment 
There was no public comment. 
The Commission meeting adjourned at 3:30 pm. 
 





















































 

 
 

STATE OF WASHINGTON 
GAMBLING COMMISSION 

“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest” 
 
 
June 27, 2018 
 
 
TO:          COMMISSIONERS    EX OFFICIO MEMBERS  
         Bud Sizemore, Chair     Senator Steve Conway  
  Julia Patterson, Vice-Chair    Senator Lynda Wilson 
   Christopher Stearns    Representative Brandon Vick 
   Ed Troyer      Representative David Sawyer 
   Alicia Levy      
      
FROM:        David Trujillo, Director  
 
SUBJECT:  DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 
Sports Betting: 
It has been almost two months since the US Supreme Court of the United States declared the 
federal ban on sports betting unconstitutional. Delaware and New Jersey have joined Nevada in 
offering sanctioned sports betting.  Mississippi and West Virginia have approved regulations and 
plan to offer sports betting later this year. Mississippi will also allow mobile wagering at brick 
and mortar locations once approved by their state gaming commission. Rhode Island signed a 
bill into law with regulations expected to follow in October. Michigan is an interesting state to 
watch as the House approved a bill for iGaming and sports betting is seeing action in the Senate. 
Closer to home, we are watching to see what happens in Oregon.  Oregon Lottery looks to bring 
back its Sports Action betting game which was discontinued in 2008 and launch an app this year 
that may eventually offer online or mobile sports betting once a regulatory framework and tax 
structure are put into place. US Congress has postponed a hearing on sports betting.  The hearing 
was scheduled for June 26 but was postponed; no date has been set yet. 
 
New Tribal Negotiation Request: 
On June 25, 2018, we received a Tribal negotiation referral request from the Governor’s Office 
(attachment). Stillaguamish Tribe of Indians is requesting to re-negotiate the terms and 
conditions of the Tribal-Sate Class III Gaming Compact in its entirety to further promote 
efficiency within its Gaming facility.  The Tribal Board of Directors have designated 
Stillaguamish Tribal Attorney and Legal Department Director, Edward J. Wurtz to lead the re-
negotiation.  Tribal Liaison Julie Lies is working with Mr. Wurtz on scheduling an introductory 
meeting.  
 
New Tribal Gaming Operation: 
Sauk-Suiattle Indian Tribe is planning to open a casino, bingo hall and café this summer.  The 
Last Chance Casino and Bingo is under construction and set to open on or around September 1st.  



Director’s Report 
June 27, 2018 
Page 2 
 
 
The Sauk-Suiattle Indian Tribe partnered with an economic development arm of the Shoalwater 
Bay Indian Tribe. At this time, the casino will only be operating electronic Class II machines. 
They may operate Class III machines, but that will be several years out. We have offered our 
assistance and provided them agency staff contact information just in case. 
 
Office of the Washington State Auditor: 
In the next few months, we will be very busy working with representatives from the State 
Auditor’s Office (SAO) on three engagements. Examination #1: As part of an audit of 
Washington State’s Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB). SAO representatives will be 
verifying our underlying payroll records to the data provided to Washington State Health Care 
Authority (HCA). HCA is paying for the cost of the examination. Examination #2: SAO is 
initiating a follow-up performance audit of the data disposal process and practices used by public 
entities to ensure sensitive data is properly sanitized prior to agency surplus. This is a general 
follow-up review from a 2014 performance audit recommendation. Examination #3: Our agency 
will receive an accountability audit which will be designed to assess how well we are using and 
safeguarding assets.   
 
Other Reports: 
RCW 39.26.210 requires that we annually submit a list of all contracts that we entered into or 
renewed. Fiscal Analyst Lori Boyd, our Contracts Specialist, will be our lead on this project and 
work with representatives of the Department of Enterprise Services.    
 
Northwest Indian Gaming Conference and Expo 2018:  
This event was organized by the Washington Indian Gaming Association and was held at the 
Squaxin Island Little Creek Casino on June 18-20, 2018. Gambling Commission Staff had the 
opportunity to be on several panels as did Commissioner Chris Stearns. Participating staff 
included Brian Considine, Melissa Valencia, and Jennifer Lamont. Commissioner Stearns and I 
also had the opportunity to participate as well.  Specifically, I was on the “Single Ticket Server, 
Where Do We Go from Here?”  My main takeaway from this panel is that the technology for 
Class II gaming machines has improved significantly in the past few years.  Marketing to 
Washington Tribes has increased dramatically and will continue into the foreseeable future.  The 
overall impact to Class III machine gaming remains to be seen. 

 
REGULAR UPDATES: 
 
Fee Structure Simplification Project: 
All applicable rules associated with this project are effective and we are implementing the new 
fee structure in July. This “project” has been a significant investment in resources, financially 
and in terms of people. Staff has personally reached out to over 3,000 licensees to educate them 
on the new license fee structure.  In addition, twenty eight sub-projects were initiated beginning 
in June 2017. Each sub-project had to be staffed and had to be coordinated in addition to the 
normal and routine work.  Five sub-projects are completed.  Eighteen sub-projects are in 
progress, two are scheduled to start in August and the remaining three are scheduled to begin in 
either December 2018 or March of 2019.  The final project due to kick-off in March will be a 
Review of the Quarterly License Report Reporting for Efficiencies. 
 
 



Director’s Report 
June 27, 2018 
Page 3 
 
 
 
Problem Gambling Study (ESSB 6032): 
Combined team(s) from UW and WSU will work together as our vendor for the study. 
Specifically, the vendor will assess the level of responsible gambling programs in place, review 
academic literature on such programs to identify program components with evidence of 
effectiveness, and/or evidence as an emerging best practice and then develop and conduct 
survey(s).  Vendor will conduct a systematic re-review and update the 2013 report titled; 
“Washington State Problem and Pathological Gambling Treatment Program: Levels Of Care, 
Service Gaps And Recommendations” regarding the current state of prevention, treatment and 
recovery programs and services for people with gambling-related problems offered within 
Washington State. Vendor will develop and conduct survey(s) and/or qualitative interviews with 
key stakeholders for such services currently available in our state. Finally, vendor will provide a 
report and recommendations to WSGC in early January 2019 for submission to lawmakers 
during the 2019 Legislative session. We provided an update to Tribal leaders attending the 
Washington Indian Gaming Association meeting on June 21, 2018.  Jamestown S’Klallam Tribal 
Chairman Ron Allen was present and affirmed the need to be responsive.  Finally, we are sorry 
to see that DSHS Problem Gaming Program Manager, Ann Gray will be leaving her current 
position at the end of July to work as a school administrator for a Dual Language Spanish 
Immersion program in the south sound region. This is a school model that she actually piloted 
early in her education career.  
 
Strategic Planning: 
We have prepared a draft of the Strategic Plan document. The four goals defined by 
Commissioners are 1) Increase the Commission’s role in helping people who are suffering from 
gambling disorders; 2) Strengthen legislation relationships; 3) Staff continuity and success 
planning; and 4) Strengthen stakeholder relationships. We hoped to have final iteration of the 
plan for your review in July, however, that did not work out. Our current plan is to share the draft 
document individually with Commissioners in July and bring a final version to our August 
Commission Meeting. This Strategic Plan is estimated to cover the next four to five years.  
 
Attachment 





WASHINGTON STATE MAY 11 10;1$ 
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

W1 

In the matter of: 

Gregory P. Means, 

Appellant 

Docket No. 04-2018-GMB-00041 

INITIAL ORDER DENYING STAY 

Agency: Gambling Commission 
Program: Washington State Gambling Commission 
Agency No. CR 2017-01110 

1. ISSUE 

1.1. Should the summary suspension of gambling license number 68-07011 of 
Appellant Gregory P. Means be stayed or modified under WAC 230-17-170? 

2. ORDER SUMMARY 

2. 1. No. Staying or modifying the summary suspension of gambling license number 68- 
07011 of Appellant Gregory P. Means is denied under WAC 230-17-170. 

3. HEARING 

3.1. Hearing Date: 

3.2. Administrative Law Judge 

3.3. Appellant: 

3.3.1. Representative: 

3.4. Agency: 

3.4.1. Representative: 

April 30, 2018 

Lisa N. W. Dublin 

Gregory P. Means 

Bryan Hershman, Attorney at law 

Gambling Commission 

Gregory J. Rosen, AAG; Agent Jess 
Lohse also attended. 

3.5. Exhibits: Exhibits 1 through 46 were admitted. 

4. FINDINGS OF FACT 

I find the following facts by clear and convincing evidence: 

Jurisdiction 

4.1. On March 19, 2018, the Commission issued a Notice of Administrative Charges 
and Summary Suspension Order of Appellant's Public Card Room Employee 
license number 68-29734. 

4.2. On April 9, 2018, the Commission received Appellant's Request for Stay of this 
summary suspension. 

INITIAL ORDER DENYING STAY OAH: (253) 476-6888 
Docket No. 04-2018-GMB-00041 Page 1 of 6 

8500-SCP 



Commission's Investigation of Mr. Means 

4.3. During all times relevant hereto, Gregory Means worked for Macau Casino in 
Tukwila, Washington, as General Manager. During this time, Mr. Means held 
Public Card Room Employee license number 68-07011. 

4.4. As General Manager, Mr. Means is the primary point of contact with the 
Commission regarding Macau Casino. Ex. 1, p.9. Means' duties include 
preparing and keeping all internal controls, reporting all suspicious/illegal activity 
occurring at the casino to the Commission, serving as systems administrator for 
the casino's digital surveillance system, completing all suspicious activity reports 
(SARs) and currency transaction reports (CTRs), training casino personnel 
regarding the casino's anti-money laundering procedures, and acting as the 
casino's Anti-Money Laundering Officer. Id. 

4.5. Also during this time, Anna Bui was a licensed card room employee at Macau 
Casino. In mid-2016, the Commission commenced an investigation of Ms. Bui for 
loan sharking, money laundering, and check kiting. Ex. 1. Such unlawful activity 
allegedly took place in the open and almost everyone, including players and 
employees, knew about it. Id., p.10. During this investigation, Commission 
investigator Jess Lohse learned from sources/witnesses that: 

• Mr. Means was aware of Ms. Bui's loan sharking activities inside Macau 
Casino, but turned a blind eye. 

• Mr. Means financially benefited from Ms. Bui's loan sharking activities at 
Macau Casino, in that he received bonuses based on casino productivity. 

• Mr. Means did not report various suspicious incidents involving Ms. Bui and 
others to the Commission. 

• Between 6/28/16 and 1/14/17, Mr. Means completed 77 CTRs on Ms. Bui 
totaling $1,444,990, while Ms. Bui only earned $57,548.23 from working at 
Macau Casino during this time. 

Id., pp.9, 14, 20, 22, 26-27, 30-31, 33; Ex. 2, p.3, 5; Ex. 22, pp. 12, 14. 

4.6. Investigator Lohse also learned that the Tukwila Police Department and Postal 
Division were concerned about the amount of alleged drug trafficking at the 
casino, which Mr. Means may have tolerated. Ex. 2, p.2. In addition, along with 
other alleged unlawful behavior, Mr. Means allegedly engaged in unauthorized 
professional sports betting, using Ms. Bui as a bookie. Ex. 22, pp. 1, 20-22. 

INITIAL ORDER DENYING STAY OAH: (253) 476-6888 
Docket No. 04-201 8-G MB-00041 Page 2 of 6 

8500-SCP 



4.7. Following his investigation, Investigator Lohse recommended summarily 
suspending Mr. Means' CRE license under RCW 9.46.075 and related 
regulations. Ex. 1, pp.1, 34. 

4.8. Mr Means did not offer any documentary evidence into the stay hearing record. 

5. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 

Based upon the facts above, I make the following conclusions: 

Jurisdiction 

5.1.1 have jurisdiction over the persons and subject matter of this case under RCW 
9.46.140(2) & (4), and WAC 230-17-025. 

5.2. The Commission may suspend or revoke any license or permit issued by it, for any 
reason or reasons, it deems to be in the public interest, including instances where 
the licensee (1) has violated, failed or refused to comply with the provisions, 
requirements, conditions, limitations or duties imposed by chapter 9.46 RCW or 
any rules adopted by the commission pursuant thereto, or when a violation of any 
provision of such chapter or rule has occurred upon any premises occupied or 
operated by any such person or over which he or she has substantial control; (2) 
knowingly causes, aids, abets, or conspires with another to cause any person to 
violate any state laws or commission rules; or (3) misrepresents or fails to disclose 
a material fact to the commission. RCW 9.46.075; WAC 230-17-165. 

5.3. To obtain a stay of his suspended license, Mr. Means has the burden of proving, 
by clear and convincing evidence, all four of the following elements: 

(a) The licensee or permittee is likely to prevail upon the merits of 
the evidence at hearing; and 

(b) Without relief, the licensee or permittee will suffer irreparable 
injury. For purposes of this section, elimination of income from 
licensed activities must not be deemed irreparable injury; and 

(c) The grant of relief will not substantially harm other parties to the 
proceedings; and 

(d) The threat to the public safety or welfare is not sufficiently 
serious to justify continuation of the suspension, or that 
modification of the terms of the suspension will adequately 
protect the public interest. 

WAC 230-17-170(6)(a)-(d). 

INITIAL ORDER DENYING STAY OAH: (253) 476-6888 
Docket No. 04-2018-GMB-00041 Page 3 of 6 

8500-SCP 



Mr. Means Fails to Meet His Burden of Proof 

5.4. Counsel for Mr. Means presented no evidence or argument that Mr. Means would 
likely prevail at a license revocation hearing. Rather, counsel for Mr. Means rested 
on the record, arguing it was primarily rank hearsay. However, this argument does 
not establish that the Commission would be unable to corroborate the extensive, 
detailed investigative reports with witness testimony and documentary evidence at 
a revocation hearing. If corroborated, the extent of Mr. Means' unlawful activity 
while General Manager at Macau Casino would constitute an immediate danger to 
the public safety and welfare without license revocation. Under WAC 230-17-
170(6)(a), Mr. Means has not sufficiently shown that he is likely to prevail at a 
license revocation hearing under RCW 9.46.075. 

5.5. Nor did Mr. Means produce any evidence under WAC 230-17-170(6)(b) or legal 
argument that (1) he will suffer irreparable injury separate from the income lost 
from licensed activity, (2) that a stay would not substantially harm the Commission, 
or (3) that his continued suspension is unjustified based on the insufficiently 
serious threat he poses to public safety or welfare. 

5.6. The Commission properly exercised its discretion to summarily suspend Gregory 
P. Means' Public Card Room Employee license under RCW 9.46.075. Mr. Means 
has not proven by clear and convincing evidence the requisite four elements in 
WAC 230-17-170(6)(a)-(d). 

6. INITIAL ORDER 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT: 

6.1.The Gambling Commission action is AFFIRMED. 

6.2. A stay or modification of the suspension of Gregory P. Means' Public Card Room 
Employee license # 68-07011 is denied. 

Issued from Tacoma, Washington on the date of mailing. 

~~[, ]~~ V\..  

Lisa N. W. Dublin 
Administrative Law Judge 
Office of Administrative Hearings 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE ATTACHED 

INITIAL ORDER DENYING STAY OAH: (253) 476-6888 
Docket No. 04-2018-GMB-00041 Page 4 of 6 

8500-SCP 



PETITION FOR REVIEW 

This order is entered pursuant to RCW 34.05.482, 34.05.485, and WAC 230-17-150, 
230-17-160, and 230-17-170. 

Review of this order is available pursuant to RCW 34.05.488, 34.05.491, 34.05.494, and 
WAC 230-17-175. 

INITIAL ORDER DENYING STAY OAH: (253) 476-6888 
Docket No. 04-2018-GMB-00041 Page 5 of 6 

8500-SCP 



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE FOR OAH DOCKET NO. 04-2018-GMB-00041 

I certify that true copies of this document were served from Tacoma, Washington via 
Consolidated Mail Services upon the following as indicated: 

rx~ First Class Mail 
❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 

Gregory P. Means ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 
407 S. 15th Sreet ❑ Campus Mail 
Renton, WA 98055 ❑ Facsimile 
Appellant ❑ E-mail: gpm7747@gmail.com  

0 First Class Mail 

Bryan G. Hershman ❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 

Law Office of Bryan Hershman ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 

1105 Tacoma Ave S. ❑ Campus Mail 

Tacoma, WA 98402 ❑ Facsimile 

Appellant Representative ❑ E-mail: b!yan @ b!yanhershman.com  

Gregory J. Rosen, AAG ❑ First Class Mail 
Office of The Attorney General ❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 
1125 Washington St SE ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 
MS: 40100 ❑x Campus Mail 
PO Box 40100 ❑ Facsimile 
Olympia, WA 98504-0100 ❑ E-mail: GregR@atg.wa.gov  
Agency Representative 

Haylee Mills, Staff Attorney ❑ First Class Mail 

Gambling Commission ❑ Certified Mail, Return Receipt 

MS: 42400 ❑ Hand Delivery via Messenger 

PO Box 42400 ❑x Campus Mail 

Olympia, WA 98504-2400 ❑ Facsimile 

Agency Contact ❑ E-mail: haylee.mills@wsgc.wa.gov  

Date: Thursday, May 10, 2018 

OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 

Ricci Frisk 
Legal Administrative Manager 

INITIAL ORDER DENYING STAY OAH: (253) 476-6888 
Docket No. 04.2018-GMB-00041 Page 6 of 6 

8500••SCP 



 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

GAMBLING COMMISSION 
“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest” 

 
 
July 1, 2018 
 
 
TO:  COMMISSIONERS:  
  Bud Sizemore, Chair 
  Julia Patterson, Vice Chair 

Christopher Stearns 
Ed Troyer 
Alicia Levy 

 
FROM: Haylee P. Mills, Staff Attorney  
  Legal and Records Division 

 
SUBJECT:  Jordan S. Hjorth, CR 2018-00405 
  Final Order – July 12, 2018 Commission Meeting 
 
Mr. Jordan S. Hjorth had a gambling certification authorizing Class III Employee activity at ilani 
Casino in Ridgefield, Washington.  His license expired on June 26, 2018.   
 
On February 21, 2018, Mr. Hjorth was charged in Clark County Superior Court Case No. 18-1-
00504-3 with one count of Possession of Stolen Property Second Degree, a Class C Felony.  Mr. 
Hjorth’s case is still pending, and is set for trial in September, 2018.  
 
Director Trujillo issued a Notice of Administrative Charges on May 7, 2018, to Mr. Hjorth by 
regular and certified mail to the last address the Gambling Commission had on file.  The regular 
mail was returned on May 18, 2018 as “Return to Sender, Attempted- Not Known, Unable to 
Forward.”  The certified mail was returned on May 25, 2018 as “Return to Sender, Attempted- Not 
Known, Unable to Forward.”  As of the date of this memo, the Commission has not received any 
response from Mr. Hjorth. 
 
Mr. Hjorth’s failure to respond to the charges or request a hearing is a waiver of Mr. Hjorth’s right 
to a hearing in Case No. CR 2018-00405.  You may take final action against his gambling 
certification.  Based on his conduct, Mr. Hjorth cannot show by clear and convincing evidence that 
he is qualified to keep his gambling certification.  Therefore, staff recommends that the 
Commission sign the proposed final order and revoke Jordan S. Hjorth’s Class III Employee 
certification, Number 69-42668. 
 



 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

GAMBLING COMMISSION 
“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest” 

 
 
July 1, 2018 
 
 
TO:  COMMISSIONERS:  
  Bud Sizemore, Chair 
  Julia Patterson, Vice Chair 

Christopher Stearns 
Ed Troyer 
Alicia Levy 

 
FROM: Haylee P. Mills, Staff Attorney  
  Legal and Records Division 

 
SUBJECT:  Loren G. Maxey, CR 2018-00263 
  Final Order – July 12, 2018 Commission Meeting 
 
Mr. Loren G. Maxey has a gambling license authorizing Public Card Room Employee activity at 
Zeppoz Casino in Pullman, Washington.  His license expires on July 21, 2018.   
 
Between May, 2017 and February 3, 2018, Mr. Maxey was observed on casino surveillance 
stealing large quantities of chips from gaming tables and large quantities of cash from the count 
room at Zeppoz Casino.  Mr. Maxey falsified Table Inventory Slips to conceal his thefts. Mr. 
Maxey’s actions caused Zeppoz Casino ownership and staff to violate WAC Rules concerning 
internal controls, accounting for table inventory, and closing tables.  When confronted, Mr. Maxey 
admitted to some of the thefts.  The total loss to the casino was $95,449.00.   
 
Based on the above allegations, on February 8, 2018, Mr. Maxey was charged in Whitman County 
Superior Court Case No. 18-1-00025-38 with one count of Theft in the First Degree, a Class B 
felony, one count of Forgery, a Class C Felony, and one count of Money Laundering, a Class B 
Felony.  Mr. Maxey’s case is still pending and is set for trial on July 23, 2018.   
 
Director Trujillo issued a Notice of Administrative Charges on May 14, 2018, which was sent to 
Mr. Maxey on May 17, 2018 by regular and certified mail to the last address the Gambling 
Commission had on file.  The certified mail was returned on May 29, 2018 as “Return to Sender, 
Insufficient Address, Unable to Forward.”  The regular mail was returned on May 30, 2018 as 
“Return to Sender, Insufficient Address, Unable to Forward.”  As of the date of this memo, the 
Commission has not received any response from Mr. Maxey. 
 
Mr. Maxey’s failure to respond to the charges or request a hearing is a waiver of Mr. Maxey’s 
right to a hearing in Case No. CR 2018-00263.  You may take final action against his gambling 
license.  Based on his conduct, Mr. Maxey cannot show by clear and convincing evidence that he 
is qualified to keep his gambling license.  Therefore, staff recommends that the Commission sign 
the proposed final order and revoke Loren G. Maxey’s gambling license, License Number 68-
29961. 

























































































Cowlitz Indian Tribe
ilani Casino Resort:
Phase II Review

July 12, 2018
Keith Kam, South District Supervisor
Tribal Gaming Unit



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 2

“Protect the public by 
ensuring that gambling is 

legal and honest”

Mission



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 3

Cowlitz Indian Tribe

ilani means to sing
Opened April 24, 2017

368,000 square-foot casino 
resort 

Design projects the culture of 
the Northwest; pays tribute to 
the heritage of the Cowlitz 
Indian Tribe. The Forever People



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 4



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 5

Cowlitz Indian Tribe

4,159 members

262 government employees

142 health and human 
services employees



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 6

Cowlitz Indian Tribe
Health Services 

Youth Services 

Housing Department 

Natural Resources 

Transportation Department 

Cultural Resources 

Elders Program 



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 7

What is a Phase II Review?
After 12 months of operations, a 
review was conducted to 
determine compact compliance:
Table Games
Tribal Lottery System
Cage/Soft count
Security
Surveillance
Accounting



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 8

Review Criteria

1. There have been no violation(s) of the provisions of this 
Compact which have resulted in sanctions imposed by the 
Federal District Court or the National Indian Gaming 
Commission.

Successfully Completed



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 9

Review Criteria

2. There have been no violations of the Compact which are 
substantial or, due to repetition, would be deemed material   
violations of the Tribal/State Compact.

Successfully Completed



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 10

Review Criteria

3. There have been no material adverse impacts on the public 
health, safety, or welfare of the the surrounding communities 
in the nature of criminal activities directly related to the 
operation of the Class III facility.

Successfully Completed



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 11

4. The Tribal Gaming Agency has developed a strong program of    
regulation and control demonstrating an adequate level of   
proficiency.

Successfully Completed



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 12

Review Criteria

5. There were no material violations of Appendix A or X2 of the 
Tribal/State Compact.

Successfully Completed



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 13

Upon Successful Completion of the Review

The Cowlitz Tribe’s ilani Casino Resort will continue to operate:

• Maximum wagering limits of $500

• Up to 75 gaming stations

• Tribal Lottery System limits – up to 2,500 player terminals 



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 14

Recommendation

Staff Recommends the Commission
Approve ilani Casino Resort 
To Continue Operating at 

Phase II Limits



Questions?
Keith Kam, South District Supervisor
Tribal Gaming Unit



FY19 Budget 
Revisions
July 12, 2018
Cam Dightman, Budget Specialist
Business Operations Division



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 2

Agenda

1. Revised FY19 Revenue Estimate
2. Revised FY19 Expenditure Estimate
3. Estimated Working Capital Balance
4. Staff Recommendation – FY19 Budget



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 3

Revenue Estimates

Estimates made in 2017 were based on FY16 gross receipts reported by licensees. The revised estimates use 
gross receipts reported by licensees for FY17. 

FY 2019

Commission Approved: August 2017 $10,741,000

Staff Recommendation: July 2018 11,106,000

Change $365,000

Gambling Revolving Account

3.4%



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 4

Expenditure Estimates:  FY19

Commission 
Approved:

August 2017

Staff
Recommended:

July 2018 Difference
Gambling Revolving Account $14,426,000 $14,253,000 -$173,000

Industrial Ins. Prem. Refund Acct. 25,000 25,000 0

Federal Seizure Acct. 33,000 33,000

Matching Funds for Problem Gambling Study 50,000 50,000

Total $14,451,000 $14,361,000 -$90,000 -0.6%



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 5

Working Capital Balance

*Minimum Working Balance Target:  $2,376,000
OFM recommends maintaining working capital balance at no less than 60 days of estimated expenditures.

Estimated Beginning Working Capital $8,911,000

Plus: Estimated Revenue 11,106,000

Total Available * $20,017,000

Less: Estimated Expenditures 14,253,000

Expected Ending Working Capital $5,764,000

Gambling Revolving Account:  FY19



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 6

Staff Recommendation

Revenue $11,106,000

Expenditures:

Gambling Revolving Acct. $14,253,000

Industrial Ins. Pre. Refund Acct. 25,000

Federal Seizure Acct. 33,000

Matching Funds for PG Study 50,000

Total $14,361,000

Approve Revised FY19 Budget:

114 FTEs



Questions?
Cam Dightman, Budget Specialist
Business Operations Division



Electronic 
Gambling Lab
July 12, 2018
Melissa Valencia, Lab Administrator
Electronic Gambling Lab



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 2



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 3

Tribal Lottery System Overview

Requirements defined 
in Appendix X2

Unique within the 
gaming industry



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 4

Tribal Lottery System Basic Structure
MANUFACTURING

COMPUTER
CENTRAL

COMPUTER

TICKET
STORES AND 
DISPENSES 

TICKETS

RANDOMLY 
CREATES 

GAME SETS 
AND SUBSETS



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 5

Submission Process
Review 

Documentation
Review ITL 
Portal Info

Analyze 
Device/System

Identify 
Potential Issues

Develop Test 
Script Test Approve or 

Disapprove Follow up

Implementation 
& Regulation



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 6

Submission Difficulties

Issued for Technical 
Difficulties

Required Action 
Notice (RAN)

• Documentation
• Testing materials
• System set up
• System reliability
• Response to inquiries

Issued for 
Compliance & 
Regulatory Problems

Finding of Non-
Compliance 

(FNC)
• Data protection/encryption
• Reporting
• Direct violation of Appendix  X2



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 7

Issues Discovered During Testing

No Problems
44%

Finding of Non-
Compliance

5%

Required 
Action Notice

51%

Jan – May 2018



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 8

Improving Processing Times
60-day Submissions

Total
Submissions 

Average 
Days to 

Completion 

# of 
Submissions 

Over 

% of 
Submissions 

Over 

2018 
YTD*

119 41.29 0 0

2017 123 35.35 0 0

2016 65 37.7 1 1.54

2015 151 37.3 6 3.97

2014 77 39.2 10 12.99

2013 92 45.1 18 19.57

45.1
39.2

37.3 37.7
35.35 41.29

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 YTD

Av
er

ag
e 

Da
ys

 to
 C

om
pl

et
io

n

Su
bm

iss
io

ns

EGL 60-day Submission Time Frames

60 day Total Submissions 60 day Average # Over 60 Days



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 9

Improving Processing Times
15-day Submissions

Total
Submissions 

Average 
Days to 

Completion 

# of 
Submissions 

Over 

% of 
Submissions 

Over 

2018 
YTD*

177 7.16 0 0

2017 392 7.98 0 0

2016 350 6.8 22 6.29

2015 330 8.7 21 6.36

2014 361 9.4 41 1.36

2013 333 9.4 17 5.11

9.4 9.4
8.7

6.8 7.98
7.16

0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 YTD

Av
er

ag
e 

Da
ys

 to
 C

om
pl

et
io

n

Su
bm

iss
io

ns

EGL 15-day Submission Time Frames

15 day Total Submissions 15 day Average # Over 15 Days



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 10

Gambling Equipment Testing

Tribal Lottery
Card Shufflers

Bingo
Gaming Tables

Progressive Tracking & 
Displays

Keno
Roulette



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 11

Assisting Regulatory Agents

New 
Technology Investigations Risk Analysis

Training Inspections Internal 
Controls

Security 
Standards & 

Practices

Technical 
Standards



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 12

Successes

Improved communication and 
relationships with ITLs, tribal 
governments and manufacturers

Faster processing times

Greater efficiency

Discovering issues prior to deployment 
to the public



Questions?
Melissa Valencia, Lab Administrator
Electronic Gambling Lab



Tribal Community
Contributions
July 12, 2018
SAS Dan Wegenast, SAS Kelly Main
Tribal Gaming Unit



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 2

“Protect the public by 
ensuring that gambling is 

legal and honest”

Mission



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 3

Tribal Contributions

WSGC Role:
Community Impact Committee
Accrual & Payment Verification

1

3

4

2

Community 
Impact

CharitableSmoking 
Cessation
& Prevention

Problem 
Gambling



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 4

Community 
Impact 

Contributions

Up to 2% of table game net receipts
Paid to government agencies impacted 

by casino



1 2 3

6 5 4

7 8 9

Funds generated 
at table games
(net receipts)

Casino’s 
accounting dept. 
determines 
accrual amount

Accrual amounts 
audited by WSGC Tribal 
Gaming Unit (TGU)

Casino sends 
accrual amount to 
Tribal Government

Organizations 
apply for 2% 
community 
impact funds

2% impact distribution 
decisions: committee 
or Tribe

Documented by
council resolution or 
MOU/ financial 
agreement

Tribe sends checks 
to recipients

TGU staff verifies  
payments

WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 5



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 6

Community Impact Funds Distributed

$6.471

$4.842
$4.240

$0

$1

$2

$3

$4

$5

$6

$7

$8

2013 2014 2015

Di
st

rib
ut

io
ns

  (
M

ill
io

ns
)



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 7

Charitable 
Distributions

0.5% of Tribal Lottery System (TLS) 
net receipts

Paid to non-profit/charitable 
organizations in WA



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 8

Charitable Distributions

$12.668
$10.689 $9.910

$0

$2

$4

$6

$8

$10

$12

$14

2013 2014 2015

Di
st

rib
ut

io
ns

  (
M

ill
io

ns
)



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 9



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 10



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 11



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 12

Smoking 
Cessation 

Contributions
0.13% of Tribal Lottery System (TLS) 

net receipts
Paid to government or

non-profit/charitable orgs. in WA
Cessation, Prevention, Education, 

Awareness, Treatment



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 13

Smoking Cessation Distributions

$2.253 $2.436 $2.298

$0

$1

$2

$3

$4

$5

2013 2014 2015

Di
st

rib
ut

io
ns

  (
M

ill
io

ns
)



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 14

Problem 
Gambling 

Contributions

0.13% of Class III net receipts
Paid to government or

non-profit/charitable orgs. in WA
Education, Awareness, Treatment



WASHINGTON STATE GAMBLING COMMISSION 15

Problem Gambling Distributions

$2.568 $2.852 $2.581

$0

$1

$2

$3

$4

$5

2013 2014 2015

Di
st

rib
ut

io
ns

  (
M

ill
io

ns
)



Questions?
SAS Dan Wegenast, SAS Kelly Main
Tribal Gaming Unit



 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

GAMBLING COMMISSION 
“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest” 

 
July 3, 2018 
 
 
TO:          COMMISSIONERS    EX OFFICIO MEMBERS  
         Bud Sizemore, Chair     Senator Steve Conway  
  Julia Patterson, Vice-Chair    Senator Lynda Wilson 
   Christopher Stearns    Representative Brandon Vick 
   Ed Troyer     Representative David Sawyer 
   Alicia Levy 
      
FROM:        Brian J. Considine, Legal and Legislative Manager  
 
SUBJECT:  Agency Request Legislation   
 
We discussed possible topics for agency request legislation at our June 2018 Commission 
Meeting.  The six topics that I have for agency request legislation are: 
 

• Problem Gambling Self-exclusion Program (Comm. Stearns and Patterson); 
• Problem Gambling Task Force (Staff suggestion based on input from Comm. Stearns and 

Patterson); 
• Problem Gambling Prevalence Study (Comm. Stearns); 
• Skins/Loot Boxes (Comm. Stearns); 
• Involuntary Exclusion from Gambling Establishments for People who Commit Certain 

Crimes or Acts (staff request); and 
• General Fund appropriation for Gambling Commission’s criminal enforcement activities 

(Comm. Sizemore). 
 
Additionally, we will likely have the following topics to address during the 2019 legislative 
session, based on recent court decisions and topics that were raised during the 2018 session: 
 

• Sports Gambling; 
• Social Gaming/Big Fish Casino and definition of gambling activities; 
• Increase in non-profit raffle/bingo limits and who can offer these activities; 
• Changes to agency forfeiture laws; and 
• Card room employees prohibition on gambling at their places of employment 

 
As you can see, we will have a very full legislative agenda for the 2019 session. Therefore, I 
recommend that we identify our top two to three agency request legislative priorities at the July 
Commission. This will ensure we do not overextend ourselves and set us up for a successful 
2019 legislative session.  Once the two to three priorities are identified, then I will then begin 
stakeholder and legislative outreach on these three topics have and have draft legislation for our 
August Commission Meeting.   



 

 
STATE OF WASHINGTON 

GAMBLING COMMISSION 
“Protect the Public by Ensuring that Gambling is Legal and Honest” 

 
July 3, 2018 
 
 
TO:          COMMISSIONERS    EX OFFICIO MEMBERS  
         Bud Sizemore, Chair     Senator Steve Conway  
  Julia Patterson, Vice-Chair    Senator Lynda Wilson 
   Christopher Stearns    Representative Brandon Vick 
   Ed Troyer     Representative David Sawyer 
   Alicia Levy 
      
FROM:        Brian J. Considine, Legal and Legislative Manager  
 
SUBJECT:  Sports Gambling Monthly Update – July 2018 
 
In June, I provided you a memo containing an overview of sports gambling as it develops across 
the country.  I will continue to provide this overview each month with updated information, as 
needed. My sports gambling presentation has been moved to our August Commission Meeting 
due to the full agenda at our July meeting.  This will allow us to have sufficient time in August to 
discuss the history, mechanics of a sports gambling operation, and regulatory and policy issues 
present should the Legislature decide to authorize sports gambling.   
 
It has been 50 days since the U.S. Supreme Court invalidated the Professional and Amateur 
Sports Protection Act (PASPA).  Congress still could intervene and pass a federal framework, 
but that is still unlikely at this time. Additionally, there has been a lot of activity by state and 
tribal governments, regulators, sports leagues, and operators around the country as each 
individual state determines the future of sports gambling within its borders.  Commission staff 
continue to communicate with Legislative staff, stakeholders and licensees about the policy and 
regulatory issues involved with sports gambling.  Staff also continues to prepare information and 
materials for the Legislature as they determine how to proceed on sports gambling legislation.   
 
Below is a summary of sports gambling in the U.S. as of July 2, 2018.   
 
Congress 
 
The House Judiciary Crime, Terriorism, Homeland Security, and Investigations Subcommittee 
scheduled a hearing for June 26, 2018, but it was later postponed.  The hearing was titled: “Post-
PASPA: An Examination of Sports Betting in America.”  Rep. Goodlatte (R-VA) is the chair of 
the Judiciary and this subcommittee and he has expressed concern for the “social ills that can 
arise from gambling.”  The hearing has not yet been rescheduled. 
 
Additionally, on June 22, 2018, the House Energy and Commerce Digital Commerce and 
Consumer Protection Subcommittee held a hearing on the Horseracing Integrity Act that would 
establish a national authority for regulating doping and medication in horse racing.  During the 
hearing, Rep. Barton (R-TX) indicated that he may offer an amendment dealing with sports 



Sports Gambling Monthly Update to Commissioners 
July 3, 2018 
Page 2 
 
 
betting and online poker. Rep. Barton has a history of introducing bills to authorize online poker.  
However, the bill’s sponsor, Rep. Barr (R-KY), was not amenable to the proposal.  The 
Subcommittee’s chair, Rep. Walden (R-OR) was noncommittal on advancing the underlying bill 
or any amendments related to sports betting and online poker. 
 
Sports Leagues 
 
Professional sports leagues (NBA, NFL, NHL, MLB, and PGA) continue to advocate for a 
federal framework that provides a uniform approach to sports gambling in states that choose to 
permit it.  Right now, the NBA, MLB, and PGA have been the most vocal publicly. They 
continue to focus their lobbying efforts towards state legislatures integrity or royalty fees and 
control over the sharing of their statistics and data.  
 
The primary legal theory for these requests is that the leagues provide a product that is their 
intellectual property.  Specifically, the games themselves, or the scores/data from the games, 
have protectable intellectual property rights that deserve compensation if being used for legalized 
gambling.  This argument is not winning with state legislatures and the industry is waiting to see 
if the leagues will file a lawsuit asserting these claims now that Delaware, New Jersey, and 
others will have sports gambling. 
 
Additionally, the NCAA has indicated to its member schools that it will not seek an integrity fee 
or royalty from sports gambling.  It will not seek gambling revenues even though it knows it will 
cost money to monitor the integrity of their games.  Instead, schools will “need to look at their 
own values” and decide how to proceed.  
 
Lastly, it sometimes is helpful to hear directly from the league leaders.  Here are some statements 
from MLB Commissioner Rob Manfred when talking with a New York sports radio station: 

 
We have to expend time, effort, resources to make sure that the increased 
legalized gambling doesn’t become a threat to the integrity of our game….We 
recognize that gambling can be a source of fan engagement…and we will take 
advantage of this new landscape to try and make people even more interested in 
Major League Baseball…. 
 
… Sports leagues spend literally billions of dollars to stage these games and I do 
not think it’s unreasonable to suggest that people who are free riding on our 
product…should have to compensate us.   
 
… I do not believe that it is appropriate for Major League Baseball...to rely on a 
bunch of state regulators to ensure the integrity of our sport.... Quite frankly, I 
don't believe they'll be as good at it as we will be…the deepest fear is that 
somehow people involved in betting try to influence the outcome of the game on 
the field. 

 
 
 
 



Sports Gambling Monthly Update to Commissioners 
July 3, 2018 
Page 3 
 
 
States 
 
Two states—Delaware and New Jersey—have started offering sports gambling within their 
states.  Additionally, Rhode Island, Mississippi, West Virginia, and possibly New York will offer 
sports gambling soon.  Each regulatory structure is state-specific, but below is my attempt to 
summarize the agency responsible for regulation, where sports gambling is offered, licensing 
information, and tax rate, if possible: 
 

Delaware – The state Lottery is the primary regulator.  Sports gambling is now only 
offered at three land-based racetracks and casinos, and these casinos are operated by a 
single operator under one license.  The license fee is shared based on their slot 
contribution to the state.  Their Legislature will likely consider mobile/online 
authorizing in upcoming legislative sessions.   
 
Kentucky – Legislators are forming a bi-partisan “panel” to “draft and file legislation 
to implement legal sports betting in Kentucky.”  It is unsettled who will regulate 
(Lottery vs. Horse Racing Assoc.), but operations will likely be at licensed in-state 
horse race tracks, especially since Churchill Downs, Inc is a resident operator and has 
casino properties in Mississippi and Pennsylvania.  The proposed bill would imposed 
a 3% tax on the handle (total amount wagered and not gross receipts). 
 
Michigan – The Gaming Control Board would be the primary regulator.  Sports 
gambling legislation did not pass before the legislature’s summer recess.  However, it 
is expected to be voted on in the state senate when it reconvenes in September.  All 
operators must be licensed, and would authorize land-based casinos and mobile and 
internet platforms.  Gross revenues would be taxed at 10%. 
 
Mississippi – The Gaming Commission will be the primary regulator, and it just 
adopted sports gambling regulations on June 22, 2018.  Sports gambling is limited to 
land and water-based casinos, and all operators must be licensed.  Mobile wagering 
only allowed on casino’s property and Caesars and MGM are putting themselves in 
position to open in July.  Gross revenues are taxed at 12%. 
 
New Jersey – The Gaming Control Board is the primary regulator.  Sports betting is 
currently offered at land-based casinos for now but New Jersey has authorized 
intrastate internet gambling and mobile/internet sports gambling will occur in the near 
future.  All operators must be licensed.  Land-based gross revenues are taxed at 8.5% 
and online revenues are taxed at 13%.  There is an additional 1.25% local tax 
authorized to support state licensed horse race tracks. 
 
New York – The Gaming Commission is the primary regulator.  The state authorized 
sports gambling by referendum in 2013, and all operators must be licensed.  
However, a bill updating the law, including authorizing mobile wagering failed to 
pass this session. The Gaming Commission is allegedly working on regulations for 
the state’s four commercial casinos and they could offer land-based sports gambling 
in 2018.  Gross revenues are taxed at 8.25%.  
 



Sports Gambling Monthly Update to Commissioners 
July 3, 2018 
Page 4 
 
 

Oregon – The state Lottery would be the primary regulator and has publicly indicated 
its desire to provide sports gambling products as soon as possible.  The lottery is 
working to offer a mobile application this summer that will allow players to check 
their lottery ticket results.  The lottery states the mobile platform will eventually offer 
games and sports gambling.  Governor Brown has stated she is “open to exploring 
sports betting as part of the Oregon State Lottery portfolio, particularly in ways that 
partner with Oregon’s Tribes.”  Oregon is searching for new revenues and the lottery 
is the second-largest source of revenue after personal income taxes.  However, there 
are no proposed sports gambling regulations to review at this time. 
 
Pennsylvania – The Gaming Control Board is the primary regulator.  Sports gambling 
can occur in thirteen licensed land-based casinos and through mobile and internet 
platforms.  There are no operators at this time.  The state is accepting applications for 
operators, but no applications have been submitted likely due to the $10 million 
licensing fee and gross revenue tax of 36%. 
 
Rhode Island – The state Lottery is the primary regulator and will work in partnership 
with the operators.  Currently, two commercial casinos will offer sports gambling.  
The state lottery will operate the sports gambling through these casinos and they 
expect to start offering their products by October 1, 2018.  The allocation of net 
revenues are 51% to the state; 32% to the Vendor (IGT); and 17 % to the casino. 
 
West Virginia – The state Lottery is the primary regulator and it is finalizing its sports 
gambling rules for its five race tracks/casinos.  All operators must be licensed. The 
Lottery has stated that it expects regulations to be in place so operators can go “live” 
by September 1, 2018, at the latest.  Gross revenues are taxed at 10%. 
 

Tribal Governments 
 
The National Indian Gaming Association (NIGA) and Tribal governments throughout the 
country continue to work with state governments and regulators on policy and legal issues 
related to the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act (IGRA) and existing Tribal-State gaming compacts.  
Four tribal gaming states that are currently navigating these issues are: Connecticut, Michigan, 
Mississippi, and New York.   
 

Connecticut – The state is currently negotiating compact terms with the Mashantucket 
Pequot and Mohegan tribes who each run a casino in the state. The Tribes argue that 
their compacts grant these tribes the exclusive right to provide sports betting within 
the state.  However, the state Attorney General and some lawmakers do not agree 
they have exclusivity.  The Tribes may desire to negotiate for online gambling as 
well.  Regardless, the Governor indicated in June that they are not close to agreement 
and “don’t anyone hold your breath.” 
 
Michigan – As stated above, the state legislature is moving forward on a bill 
authorizing sports gambling at its three Detroit-area commercial casinos. There are 
twenty-one Tribal operations in the state.  The possible obstacle for compact 



Sports Gambling Monthly Update to Commissioners 
July 3, 2018 
Page 5 
 
 

negotiations could relate to IGRA and the Tribes’ ability to offer internet sports 
gambling compared to state commercial operators. 
 
Mississippi – The Mississippi Band of Choctaw Indians operates three casinos in the 
state.  In June, the Tribe approved amendments to its gaming commission regulations 
that will allow sports gambling.  The changes also authorized skill-based games, daily 
fantasy sports, e-sports. The Tribe has been able to move quickly because state law 
was amended in 2017 to allow sports gambling and the Tribe’s gaming compact 
already allowed sports gambling if/when the state authorized it.  The Tribe expects to 
offer sports gambling on or before commercial casinos begin their operations in the 
fall. 
 
New York – New York has eight Tribal casinos, and they are preparing to offer land-
based sports gambling at their casinos based on the 2013 referendum allowing sports 
betting at casinos. However, the Oneida Tribe opposed the recent legislation that did 
not pass this session.  In a letter to the Governor, the Tribe indicated the legislation’s 
authorization of kiosk or mobile sports gambling violated the terms of the exclusivity 
zone identified in its compact and violate the state’s constitutional restrictions that 
limit casino gambling to gambling “at no more than seven” authorized casinos.  If it is 
a violation, the Tribe may stop making revenue sharing payments under its compact, 
which amounted to approximately $200 million over the past five years.  

 
Lastly, Commission staff continue to communicate with Washington Tribal leaders and co-
regulators about their interest in authorizing sports gambling within the state.  Washington Tribes 
are still reviewing the legal and policy implications of authorizing sports gambling, and continue 
to review their operations to determine if sports gambling is a viable amenity for their casinos. 
We will continue to have open communications with our Tribal partners and co-regulators as 
they work towards a consensus position for the 2019 legislative session. 
 
Commercial Operators 
 
Commercial sports gambling operators continue to adjust to the emerging U.S. sports gambling 
market.  William Hill, MGM, Caesars, DraftKings, Paddy Power Betfair/FanDuel, International 
Gaming Technology (IGT), Scientific Games, Inc continue to work towards agreements with 
new operators.  The most recent news involves the current Daily Fantasy Sports companies—
DraftKings and FanDuel.  FanDuel is being acquired by Paddy Power Betfair, but it recently 
announced an agreement with a West Virginia operator.  Additionally, the Fantasy Sports Trade 
Association released data from a market survey that shows a link between people who participate 
in traditional sports gambling and fantasy sports.  These results support the belief that 
DraftKings and FanDuel, or whoever acquires them, will continue to move towards traditional 
sports gambling as online markets continue to emerge.   
 
Lastly, Commission staff continue to reach out to our State Lottery and other commercial 
operators about their interest in authorizing sports gambling within the state.  We will continue to 
have open communications with commercial operators as we work towards the 2019 legislation 
session. 


	July Agenda
	Tab 1 Draft June Minutes
	Tab 1 License 
	Tab 1 Dir Report
	Tab 2 Gregory P Means
	Tab 3 Defaults
	Tab 9 Big Fish Games, Inc.
	Tab 4 Cowlitz Paze II Review
	Tab 5 Budget
	Tab 6 EGL
	Tab 7 Tribal Contributions 
	Tab 8 Agency Request Legislation



